FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON als
6/30/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON gton
CLERK

No. _____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 83963-2

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION 1
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SOUSAN OVIESI,
Petitioner and Respondent Below
v.
JAMAL HAKIMI,
Respondent and Appellant Below

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jamal Hakimi

I. INTRODUCTION

The underlying action is a dissolution of marriage between Sousan Oveisi and Jamal Hakimi. The issues at trial included a property and debt distribution.

The issues on appeal relate to the characterization of the real property on which the parties resided (hereinafter referred to as the Tukwila Property), as either separate or community property. The answer to this question is based on long settled legal principals as to how to characterize the property as community or separate and the quantum of evidence necessary to change that characterization from separate to community. The Tukwila property was Mr Hakimi's separate Home and only under Mr. Hakimi name. The trial court found that the Tukwila Property is community property. The Court of Appeals upheld this finding. In doing so both the trial court and the Court of Appeals ignored well settled law, both at the Court of Appeals level and the Supreme Court level, as to the proper

characterization of real property. It is this finding which Mr. Hakimi appeals to.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner to this Court is Jamal Hakimi. Mr. Hakimi was the Appellant in the Court of Appeals.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals ignore settled case law as to whether real property acquired during the marriage is always community property unless it was acquired by a party through inheritance or gift?

Was there clear and convincing evidence that community funds were used to pay off the mortgage on the Tukwila Property?

• Quote from Ms. Oviesi (Trial Brief page 3 of13, CP 30-42) Hakimi owned three properties there. He sold them in 2000 for a total of 60,000,000. Iranian Toman (20,000,000, + 22000,000. + 18,000,000. Iranian toman), which equaled \$73,800.00 US dollars at that time because the 2000 exchange

Price was: \$1 US = 813 Iranian Toman.

The Court should set aside a property division which was based on a

mischaracterization of the nature of real property as community vs

separate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

History of the Marriage:

The parties were married on August 23, 1998. RP 25/10-11. They have 2

Adult daughters Mr. Hakimi has resided in the home since 1999, when he

purchased the home with separate funds. RF 25/8-9. And Ms. Oveisi could

not get a visa to enter the usa until February, 2001. RP 25/21-23 and. The

parties were married in Tehran.

Mr. Hakimi Purchases the Tukwila Property

Mr. Hakimi owned real property in Seattle prior to the marriage and

sold a parcel of property on June 27, 1997, approximately 13 months prior

to marriage, for \$90,000, gross sales price (EX 211) and carried a mortgage

6

of \$80,000, paid at the rate of \$772.84/month with a payoff in full in 2 years, June, 1999, (Ex 210) which is just 5 months prior to the purchase of the Tukwila property. Mr. Hakimi testified that he sold his Seattle property and collected the monthly payments. He further testified that in June, 1999, the contract was paid off, he signed a reconveyance, received the payoff amount of \$77,226.81 and he deposited that money into his Washington Mutual account. RP 201, lines 6-17.

Next, approximately 1 month later Mr. Hakimi withdrew_ over \$51,000 from the Washington Mutual account. EX 213. It was this money which was used to pay the down payment for the Tukwila property. Mr. Hakimi signed a purchase and sale agreement for the Tukwila property on 9/16/1999 for \$116,000. The seller was Richard Geehan. EX 218. Mr. Hakimi made payments on the balance through WestStar Loan Servicing Company. Ex 216, 217. The balance on the contract as of 2/28/00 was approximately \$59,851.00. The Real Estate Excise Tax Affidavit (REETA) reflects the sales price of \$112,000 (EX 24). The payoff on the contract with Mr. Geehan was approximately \$53,500 as of 2/28/02. Ex 215.

The title to the Tukwila property is in Mr. Hakimi's name only, and the deed of conveyance acknowledges the fact that Mr. Hakimi was married at the time he purchased the property. EX 24.

The Quit Claim Deed.

Ms. Oveisi signed a Quit Claim Deed on November 7, 1999, conveying any interest she had in the property to Mr. Hakimi. EX 204 and 205. She signed the deed at the request of the title company. Ex 204 is a copy of the letter from the title company to Ms. Oveisi dated November 2, 1999, asking her to sign the Quit Claim Deed, explaining that she is entitled to have an attorney review the document and the effect of that document, with her. Ms. Oveisi signed the letter on December 3, 1999, indicating with her own handwriting she would send the original by DHL. The Quit Claim Deed was executed by her on November 7, 1999. Contemporaneously Ms. Oveisi signed a REETA which

indicated the purpose of doing so was to establish the fact that the Tukwila property was Mr. Hakimi's separate property. EX 206.

Only placing Mr. Hakimi's name on title is consistent with his testimony. Further, it is consistent with the documents demonstrating where the money for the down payment came from. In fact, Ms. Oveisi admits that Mr. Hakimi paid the down payment for the home with his own separate property. RP 42. There really is no question the Tukwila home is Mr. Hakimi's separate property.

Ms. Oveisi's testimony regarding the purchase of the Tukwila home is unclear at best. She begins her testimony on this point by first claiming that the funds to purchase the home were derived from two sources. The first source was from the sale of a home Mr. Hakimi owned in Iran. He sold the Iran home and placed the funds into a joint account. The second source was funds she deposited to the same joint account. RP 41, lines 2-5. She then corrected herself and claimed that Mr. Hakimi purchased the home a few months before that. After purchasing the Tukwila property Mr. Hakimi went to Iran and sold his building. RP 41, lines 6-8.

She then testified that Mr. Hakimi paid for the down payment with money he had here (presumably she means the money he had in the US). RP 41, lines 11-12. Ms. Oveisi then contradicted herself and testified Mr. Hakimi bought the Tukwila property by using money in a joint account in Iran. RP 41, lines 18-20.

We know Mr. Hakimi didn't buy the Tukwila property in 1999 with funds from the sale of a home he had in Iran because Ms. Oveisi testified he sold his Iran property in 2000 and the Tukwila Property was purchased in 1999. She reiterated that Mr. Hakimi purchased the Tukwila home a few months before that:

Q: Okay. And so when you bought the house in Tukwila, um, it is your testimoney that part of the money for that was from the account that – the joint account that you had in Tehran?

A: For down payment, no. . . .

When discussing how the mortgage was paid off she testified that Mr. Hakimi sold his property in Iran, transferred his money here (the US) and he paid for the 'rest of the things'. RP 42, lines 1-6.

Q: Okay. And he – but you had already bought the Tukwila house by then?

Quote from Ms. Oviesi. RP 42, lines 1-6.

A: Yes – no. he bought the Tukwila house a few – a few months before that. He paid what the money that he had here. But when he sold the property in Iran, he transferred his money here, and he paid for the rest of the things.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court was correct in finding that the Tukwila Property is community property, based on the fact that the Tukwila Property was acquired during the marriage and the statutory definition of separate property, set forth in RCW 26.16.010, defines separate property as property acquired prior to marriage or during marriage via inheritance or gift. App. A., 5-6. The Court of Appeals further stated the Tukwila Property was community because there wasn't clear and convincing evidence that the source of funds to pay off the contract were *inherited* funds. App. A., 6.

- ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED.
 - Settled Case law Provides An Asset Acquired During Marriage With Separate Property Remains Separate Property Through Tracing

This court should accept this review because the Court of Appeals ignored settled case law regarding the proper characterization of assets as separate or community, at the time of acquisition of the asset and the Court of Appeals ignored settled case law as to the necessary proof to demonstrate a change in the characterization of property as community or separate thereafter.

There is clear case law going back decades which holds that property acquired during marriage with separate funds retains its characterization as separate property. See e.g. Harry M. Cross, *The Community Property Law in Washington (Revised 1985)*, 61 Wash. L.Rev. 13, 27-28 (1986); *In re Marriage of Skarbeck*, 100 Wn. App. 444, 449, 997 P.2d 447 (2000); *Dean v. Lehman*, 143 Wn.2d 12, 19-20, 18 P.3d 523 (2001); *In re Marriage of Chumbley*, 150 Wn.2d 1, 5, 74 P.3d 129 (2003); *In re Marriage of Schwarz*, 192 Wn. App. 180, 188, 368 P.3d 173 (2016). These cases deal with tracing the separate property into the property acquired during marriage and require clear and convincing evidence of the tracing.

ARGUMENT – THE COURT OF APPEALS FAILED TO APPLY SETTL CASE LAW

AS TO CHARACTERIZATION OF PROPERTY AS COMMUNITY OR SEPARATE OR A COMBINATION OF BOTH

B. An Asset is Characterized as Community or Separate at the Time of Acquisition and Once Established, it Retains this Characterization Until Clear and Convincing Proof Demonstrates a Change in the Characterization of the Asset.

Property is characterized as community or separate based on the date of its acquisition. In re Marriage of Skarbek, 100 Wn. App. 444, 997 P.2d 447 (2000). Property acquired during the marriage takes on the character of the funds used to purchase the property. In re Marriage of Chumbley, 150 Wn.2d 1, 6, 74 P.3d 129 (2003). Separate property will continue to remain separate property as long as it can be traced and identified. *Ibid*, at 448. The burden is on the spouse asserting that separate property has been transmuted to community property and the proof of such change in ownership must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. Skarbek, at 450; In re Marriage of Shannon, 55 Wn.App 137, 140, 777 P.3d 8 (1989).

C. The Court of Appeals Ignored Issues of Tracing Separate Property To Acquire the Tukwila Property and Limited Its Review to Whether Mr. Hakimi Acquired the Tukwila Property through Gift or Inheritance.

The Court of Appeals, in its decision, recognized the principals of tracing separate property as a way to overcome the presumption that property acquired during a marriage is community property.

To overcome the presumption, a party must offer clear and convincing evidence that a property was obtained with separate funds, and those funds can be traced "'with some degree of particularity.'" Schwarz v. Schwarz, 192 Wn. App. 180, 189, 368 P. 3d 173 (2016) (quoting Berol v. Berol, 37 Wn. 2d 380, 382, 223 P. 2d 1055 (1950)).

However, the Court of Appeals then discussed RCW 26.16.010, which defines separate property as property acquired prior to marriage or during marriage by gift or inheritance. App. A. pg 5. The Court of Appeals then ignored the issue of tracing property and only considered whether Mr. Hakimi demonstrated that he acquired the Tukwila Property through inheritance or gift:

Hakimi is correct that the evidence in the record does not support the trial court's finding that "commingled assets" from a joint account were used to pay the down payment. But even so, the trial court did not err in concluding that the "Tukwila property is and has always been community property." See Skagit County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 v. Dep't of Revenue, 158 Wn. App. 426, 449, 242 P.3d 909 (2010) ("an erroneous finding of fact not materially affecting the conclusions of law is not prejudicial and does not warrant reversal."). The trial court correctly characterized the Tukwila property as a community asset because it was acquired after the marriage, and nothing in the record suggests that Hakimi obtained the funds used for the down payment through a gift or inheritance.

Quote from The Court of Appeals UNPUBLISHED OPINION App A. pg 4,5

Characterization of Property

Hakimi contends that the trial court erred when it characterized the Tukwila home as community property. In performing its obligation to equitably distribute all property, community and separate, under RCW 26.09.080, the trial court must characterize the property as either community or separate. In re Marriage of Kile, 186 Wn. App. 864, 875, 347 P.3d 894 (2015). Washington courts presume property acquired during marriage is community property. Kile, 186 Wn. App. at 876. To overcome the presumption, a party must offer clear and convincing evidence that a property was obtained with separate funds, and those funds can be traced "'with some degree of particularity.'" Schwarz v. Schwarz, 192 Wn. App. 180, 189, 368 P.3d 173 (2016) (quoting Berol v. Berol, 37 Wn.2d 380, 382, 223 P.2d 1055 (1950)). Separate property is statutorily defined as property acquired before marriage or acquired afterward by a gift or inheritance. RCW 26.16.010.

App. A, page 5-6. Footnote omitted, emphasis added.

Thus, the Court of Appeals stated that the record doesn't support the

trial court's finding that the Tukwila Property was purchased with community funds instead of Mr. Hakimi's separate property. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals simply concluded the Tukwila Property was community property because Mr. Hakimi didn't demonstrate he acquired it through gift or inheritance, thus ignoring that he purchased it with separate property.

In the case at bar there is no dispute as to the source of funds to purchase the Tukwila Property. Ms. Oveisi admitted the source of funds to purchase the Tukwia Property initially came from the sale of Mr. Hakimi's separate property in Seattle. The mortgage on the property was in Mr. Hakimi's name only. Ex 215. This evidence rebuts the presumption that the Tukwila Property was community property because it was purchased during the marriage. Consequently, because separate property was used to purchase the Tukwial Property, it was Mr. Hakimi's separate property notwithstanding the fact it was acquired during the marriage.

The Court of Appeals Incorrectly Shifted the Burden on Ms. Oveisi to Demonstrate the Tukwila Property Changed from Mr. Hakimi's Separate Property to Community Property.

Separate property remains separate property as long as it can be traced and identified. *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn.App 444, 997 P.2d 447 (2000). The burden is on the spouse asserting that separate property has been transmuted to community property and the proof of such change in ownership must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. <u>Skarbek</u>, at 450; <u>In re Marriage of Shannon</u>, 55 Wn.App 137, 140, 777 P.3d 8 (1989).

Consequently, the burden was on Ms. Oveisi to demonstrate that community funds were used to pay off the mortgage and the evidence must be clear and convincing.

To address this issue the Court of Appeals once again relied on the statutory definition of separate property to resolve whether the mortgage was paid with Mr. Hakimi's inherited or gifted or funds.

Quote from Ms. Oviesi (Trial Brief page 3 of13, CP 30-42) Hakimi owned three properties there. He sold them in 2000 for a total of 60,000,000. Iranian Toman (20,000,000, + 22000,000. + 18,000,000. Iranian toman), which equaled \$73,800.00 US dollars at that time because the 2000 exchange

Price was: \$1 US = 813 Iranian Toman.

App. 5, pg 6, emphasis added.

Separate property remains separate property as long as it can be traced and identified. *In re Marriage of Skarbek*, 100 Wn.App 444, 997 P.2d 447

(2000). The Tukwila home is separate property and remains so until clear and convincing evidence demonstrates a transmutation of the separate property to community property.

Ms. Oveisi's claim that the Tukwila home is community property rests entirely on the claim that Mr. Hakimi's Iranian home sale proceeds were placed into a joint account in Iran and Ms. Oveisi did not have any evidence or bank statement to show Mr. Hakimi withdraw from the joint account.

an account in which she testified she put money into while she was in Iran.

Ms. Oveisi needs to demonstrate that the funds came from a source other than her with evidence because she admitted at trial that she didn't have much money and

The burden is on the spouse asserting that separate property has been transmuted to community property and the proof of such change in ownership must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. Skarbek, at 450; In re Marriage of Shannon, 55 Wn.App 137, 140, 777 P.3d 8 (1989).

Placing separate property money into a joint account **may** transmute the property into community funds but not necessarily so. Thus, the mere

deposit of separate property funds into a joint account does not change the character of the funds from separate to community. This point of law was made clear in *Skarbek*.

The parties agree that Mr. Hakimi sold a separate property asset, his home in Iran, and some of those funds were used to payoff the balance on the Tukwila home. Ms. Oveisi claims that by doing so, the funds in the account were so commingled Ms. Oveisi did not have any evidence or bank statement to show Mr. Hakimi withdraw from the joint account. Her argument fails because she doesn't have clear and convincing proof that there were sufficient community funds in the account which would trigger a commingling issue.

While she says she had money in the joint account in Iran, she doesn't state how much was in there. In fact, she had no idea how much she put into that account:

And whatever I had in back home, I put in that joint account, too. I don't exactly know what much – how much money did I have.

RP 41, lines 3-4.

Q: Okay. And he – but you had already bought the Tukwila house by then?

Quote from Ms. Oviesi. RP 42, lines 1-6.

A: Yes – no. he bought the Tukwila house a few – a few months before that. He paid what the money that he had here. But when he sold the property in Iran, he transferred his money here, and he paid for the rest of the things.

Ms. Oveisi did not have any evidence or a bank statement to show
 Mr. Hakimi withdraw from the joint account.

Ms. Oveisi can not prove by clear and convincing evidence that the funds deposited into the joint account in Iran were used . She hasn't provided any documentation which demonstrates how much she deposited in the joint account after Mr. Hakimi deposited those funds. The parties agree that Mr. Hakimi used his net sale of separate proceeds to pay off the Tukwila property. Consequently, there is not substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding "The Tukwila property is community property, not Respondent's separate property."

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with well settled law as to

characterization of property as separate or community. In failing to properly characterize the Tukwila Property as community which was Mr Hakimi separate property from the date of its acquisition, Mr. Hakimi was left with no home and the loss of his separate property interest therein he is 73 years old has health problems with pulmonary fibrosis incurable lung disease and he has no income and no health care at all. To correct this injustice the Supreme Court should reverse the Court of Appeals, remand the case back to the trial court with instructions to find that the Tukwila Property is separate property and redetermine a fair and equitable property division.

I certify that this memorandum contains 3696 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17.