FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON als 7/28/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON gton

M

N● 1 • 2 1 4 • - 1 CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 83963-2

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

SOUSAN OVEISI, Petiti oner/Appellee,

and

JAMAL HARIMI, Respondent/Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARIE WHITE, WSBA #21198
Attorney for Petitioner/Appellee
415 Southwest 152nd Street
Burien, WA 981662208
Telephone: (206) 246-1791

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

V. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review - Abuse of Discretion.

"A property division made during the dissolution of a marriage will be reversed on appeal only if there is a manifest abuse of discretion." Marriage of Muhammad, 153 Wash.2d 795, 803, 108 P.3d 779 (2005). "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." Marriage of Larson, 178 Wash. App. 133, 138, 313 P.3d 1228 (2013). "If the decree results in a patent disparity in the parties' economic circumstances, a manifest abuse of discretion has occurred." Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wash. App. at 243, 170 P.3d 572 (2007).

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in dividing the property between the parties as it did.

Appellate courts apply the substantial evidence standard of review to findings of fact made by the trial judge. See Washington Family Law Deskbook, 2nd Ed. § 65.4(1) at 65-9. As long as the findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence, they will not be disturbed on appeal. Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wash.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959). "Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of a sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." In re Marriage of Griswold, 112 Wash.App. 333, 339, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002). Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, the reviewing court's role is to simply determine whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact, and if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law. In re Marriage of Greene, 97 Wash.App. 708, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). A court should "not substitute [its] judgment for the trial court's, weigh the evidence, or adjudge witness credibility." Id. at 714, 986 P.2d 144 (citing In re Marriage of Rich, 80 Wash.App. 252, 259, 907 P.2d 1234 (1996)). In re Marriage of Rockwell, 170 P.3d 572, 141 Wn. App. 235 (Wash. App. 2007).

A. The court correctly found that the Tukwila property was community property.

In the case at bar, the court found: "Respondent asked that the property on which the family has resided, located in Tukwila, WA, be awarded to him as Petitioner signed a quit claim deed to him when they were married. At that time, not long after their marriage, Petitioner was still living in Tehran, Iran, and did not speak or read English. She understood her signature was needed to complete the purchase of a home here, where the couple intended to live. Down payment and subsequent payment of the balance owed on the family home was made with commingled assets deposited into one account from Respondent's sale of property in Iran and Petitioner's earnings before and after marriage. Once purchased, Petitioner's earnings were used for utilities, maintenance, and in 2008, construction of a new home on the property. The original home remains on the property, but it is derelict and not currently habitable. The Court finds that the Tukwila property is and always has been community property, not Respondent's separate property."

This finding of fact is supported by substantial evidence. Sousan testified about and provided proof of the parties' joint bank account in Iran, opened after they married. Both parties testified to depositing funds into this

account before the Tukwila property purchase. The petitioner testified to depositing her entire life savings into it and both parties testified that the respondent deposited into this account the funds from the sale of his real property in Iran. Both parties also testified that immediately after the marriage in 1998, Jamal quit working. Sousan testified to obtaining her first job in the U.S. within months of arrival and of working two jobs during most of the marriage. She also testified and provided documentary evidence that she contributed over \$1.7 million in net income to the family. Both parties also testified to the construction of a new 4,800-square-foot home on the property. Sousan testified to being the sole source of funds to pay off the original \$57,000 mortgage, fund all of the construction expenses for the new home, and pay all of the expenses related to the property. This is substantial evidence of the community-property character of this asset, valued at \$710,000 at the time of trial.

B. The court correctly found that Jamal possessed \$97,943 in cash.

The court found, "Petitioner testified that Respondent has withdrawn and retains large amounts of cash from their joint accounts. Petitioner further testified that she inadvertently found a large amount of cash kept by Respondent in his room, and since that time she has been

locked out of Respondent's room. During trial, the parties conferred and accounted for a majority of the assets petitioner was unable to trace and therefore attributed [to] Respondent. The amount of cash allocated to Respondent was not otherwise identified or explained at trial, and is documented as having been withdrawn by Respondent. The Court finds Petitioner's testimony, and the parties' efforts to explain Respondent's withdrawals of cash from their bank accounts, to be credible. Consequently, the unexplained withdrawals are credited to Respondent."

This finding of fact is supported by substantial evidence. Sousan testified that approximately seven or eight years prior, she was cleaning Jamal's room and found a large box of cash there. When she confronted him about it, he claimed to be holding it in case of a bank failure. But he never accounted to her for where the funds came from and thereafter he locked her out of his room. Sousan then testified to entering Jamal's room on July 7, 2021 and finding a small box of cash which she brought to her attorney. She testified that she accounted for these funds to Jamal's then-attorney and at trial, in the total amount of \$37,700. Sousan also provided detailed testimony of her review of all of the parties' bank statements between 2001 and the date of separation. Her detailed accounting accurately traced to Jamal a significant number of withdrawals that he had never explained. She

testified to a total of \$292,060 of funds Jamal removed that he did not account for. She testified that Jamal had control of all of their accounts and finances and that she was not even allowed to go to the bank by herself, testimony that Jamal did not dispute. He did dispute her testimony that they went to the bank together to withdraw cash for her trips back to Iran to visit family and that Jamal took large withdrawals and gave her only a small portion of the withdrawn funds. However, the court did not abuse its discretion in finding Sousan's testimony on these events to be more credible. Jamal gave testimony and provided off-the-record documentation tracing of \$194,117 of the funds removed from the parties' joint accounts that Sousan could not account for. At trial, she accepted his accounting for these funds and the court made a finding that they had been accounted for. That left a balance of \$97,943 in unaccounted for withdrawals. Jamal did not account for these remaining withdrawals during his testimony other than to generally deny having the money. The court did not abuse its discretion in finding this testimony to be less credible than the testimony and documentary evidence provided by Sousan.

C. The court's decision is just and equitable because it leaves the parties in approximately equal positions.

The trial court's distribution of property in a dissolution action is guided by statute, which requires it to consider multiple factors in reaching an equitable conclusion. These factors include (1) the nature and extent of the community property, (2) the nature and extent of the separate property, (3) the duration of the marriage, and (4) the economic circumstances of each spouse at the time the division of the property is to become effective. RCW 26.09.080. In weighing these factors, the court must make a "just and equitable" distribution of the marital property. RCW 26.09.080. In doing so, the trial court has broad discretion in distributing the marital property, and its decision will be reversed only if there is a manifest abuse of discretion. In re Griswold, 112 Wash. App. at 339, 48 P.3d 1018 (citing In re Marriage of Kraft, 119 Wash.2d 438, 450, 832 P.2d 871 (1992)). A manifest abuse of discretion occurs when the discretion was exercised on untenable grounds. In re Marriage of Muhammad, 153 Wash.2d 795, 803, 108 P.3d 779 (2005). If the decree results in a patent disparity in the parties' economic circumstances, a manifest abuse of discretion has occurred. In re Marriage of Pea, 17 Wash. App. 728, 731, 566 P.2d 212 (1977). In re Marriage of Rockwell, 170 P.3d 572, 141 Wn. App. 235 (Wash. App. 2007).

The parties in this case married on August 23, 1998. The separated on September 10, 2020, a period of 22 years. The court found, "(a) This is a long-term marriage. Petitioner is 61 years old and works as a nurse. She wants to continue working, but she would like to reduce her hours from the overtime schedule she has worked much of her career. She has work-related medical conditions and recently had back surgery. Respondent is 72 years old. He essentially stopped working when the parties married. He has idiopathic fibrosis, resulting in simple chronic bronchitis. During the marriage health insurance has been provided through Petitioner's employer. (b) The parties have no community debt. They are fortunate they have sufficient assets to share on an approximately 50-50 basis to be financial secure going forward." The court's division of the marital assets in the Final Divorce Order is approximately equal as detailed in the spreadsheet below. This approximately equal property division is a just and equitable distribution of the marital property. The trial court properly exercised its broad discretion in distributing the marital property, and its decision should not be reversed because it is not a manifest abuse of discretion.

COMMUNITY ASSETS AND DEBTS	GROSS VALUE	LIENS & PMTS	NET VALUE	CP VALUE	CP TO HUSBAND	CP TO WIFE
Real Estate			1			
14251 Moadam Rd. S., Tukwila, WA - Bought 11/7/1999	710,000		710,000	710,000		710,000
39202 SE Snoqualmie-N.B. Road - Bought 1/29/09	100,000		100,000	100,000	100,000	
3144 Marine View Dr., Tacoma, WA - Bought 8/24/01	500,000		500,000	500,000	500,000	
Tehran, Andisheh,part 7,Shahriar # 215 _1553 1/2 Interest - Bought 7/27/2003	40,250		40,250	40,250		40,250
Retirement Accounts						
Fidelity 403(b) - Sousan	268,783		268,783	268,783		268,783
Financial Institution Accounts						
Cash in Custody of Sousan's Attorney	37,700		37,700	37,700		37,700
Cash in Possession of Jamal	97,943		97,943	97,943	97,943	
Key Bank Savings 4324 - Jamal	336,473		336,473	336,473	336,473	
Wells Fargo Checking 9724 - Jamal	6,553		6,553	6,553	6,553	
Bank of America Savings 1102 - Sousan	127,762		127,762	127,762		127,762
Bank of America Checking 1092 - Sousan	13,373		13,373	13,373		13,373
Vehicles						
2004 Ford Taurus	2,654		2,654	2,654		2,654
2004 BMW X3	4,088		4,088	4,088	4,088	
1991 GMC Truck	1,000		1,000	1,000	1,000	
2003 Jaguar - Transfer to Neusha			,			
2005 Ford Taurus - Transfer to Niki						
TOTAL ALL COLUMNS	2,246,579		2,246,579	2,246,579	1,046,057	1,200,522
Allocation of Community Property						
Net Community Property	2,246,579					
HUSBAND 50%	1,123,290					
WIFE 50%	1,123,290					

D. The trial court's decision may be upheld on any basis supported by the record and RCW 26.09.080 permits upholding the court's property distribution.

On appeal, an order may be sustained on any basis supported by the record. <u>Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance</u>, 131 Wn.2d 484, 493, 933 P.2d (1997). "Under appropriate circumstances," the trial court "need not divide community property equally, it need not award separate property to its owner." <u>White v. White</u>, 105 Wash. App. 545, 549, 20 P.3d 481 (2001). The

court need only "make such disposition of the property and the liabilities of the parties, either community or separate, as shall appear just and equitable after considering all relevant factors." White, 105 Wash. App. at 549, 20 P.3d 481; RCW 26.09.080. In re Kaplan, 421 P.3d 1046 (Wash. App. 2018).

RCW 26.09.080 provides:

In a proceeding for dissolution of the marriage . . . the court shall, without regard to misconduct, make such disposition of the property . . . of the parties, either community or separate, as shall appear just and equitable after considering all relevant factors including, but not limited to:

- (1) The nature and extent of the community property;
- (2) The nature and extent of the separate property;
- (3) The duration of the marriage or domestic partnership; and
- (4) The economic circumstances of each spouse or domestic partner at the time the division of property is to become effective, including the desirability of awarding the family home or the right to live therein for reasonable periods to a spouse or domestic partner with whom the children reside the majority of the time.

These parties have been married for 22 years. Virtually all of their accumulated wealth has been possible only thanks to Sousan's labors. She worked two jobs and substantial overtime during most of the marriage,

ultimately contributing over \$1.7 million to the community. All of the assets and living expenses of the parties have been financed by Sousan for this entire marriage because Jamal quit working immediately upon marrying her. She paid for the private schooling and college educations of the parties' two adult daughters. She funded every other endeavor of this family, including the purchase of a commercial property in Tacoma, a vacant lot in Snoqualmie and a residence in Tehran, Iran. Even were the court to agree that Jamal used \$55,000 of his separate-property funds to buy the Tukwila home, RCW 26.09.080 and the cases interpreting it require that this, the parties' most valuable asset, purchased during the marriage for \$112,000 and now worth \$710,000, be shared equally by the parties. This is particularly true given that after the parties bought the property, they built a new, 4,800-square-foot home on it entirely at Sousan's expense.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should decline to accept for review the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case because it is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, it is not in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, it does not present a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States, and

it does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This document contains 4585 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17. Respectfully submitted July 28, 2023.

MARIE WHITE, Attorney at Law

WSBA #21198

Attorney for Petitioner/Appellee

MARIE WHITE ATTORNEY AT LAW

July 28, 2023 - 4:55 PM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division I

Appellate Court Case Number: 83963-2

Appellate Court Case Title: In re the Marriage of Sousan Oveisi, Respondent v. Jamal Hakimi, Appellant

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 839632 Other 20230728165342D1396409 9425.pdf

This File Contains:

Other - Response to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 2036OveisiSCResponseBrief.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

• Nenisoha@gmail.com

• mwaal@aol.com

• xeniamwaal@aol.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Marie White - Email: mwaal@aol.com

Address:

415 SW 152ND ST

BURIEN, WA, 98166-2208

Phone: 206-246-1791